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with quotas for each district based on the number of  Empire customers 
served. Every employee was eligible for a place on the district team. Employee 
sales commissions were offered and 75 cents was earned with each new name, 
plus an additional 25 cents for each share sold from the winning district team. 
Gold watches were awarded to employees selling the most shares.

Generation Plants 

In 1923, Empire operated six generating stations, two hydroelectric, one 
steam and three gas engine driven. The combined generating capacity of  the 
six stations was more than 63,000 horsepower.  

The main generating plants were situated near flowing water. Spring River 
supplied the Riverton plant with an abundant supply of  water for boiler and 

condenser purposes.  The Riverton power plant was the largest in the state 
of  Kansas. The hydroelectric plants were located at Lowell, Kansas, and at 
Grand Falls, Missouri. The plant at Lowell was located at the junction of  
Spring River and Shoal Creek. The generating equipment consisted of  two 
1,500 kilowatt generators. The station at Grand Falls was situated on Shoal 
Creek with a capacity of  800 kilowatts.

The gas engine plants were located at Columbus, Kansas; Neosho and 
Webb City, Missouri. The Columbus and Neosho plants generated 100 kilo-
watts. The Webb City station had two 500 kilowatt units. 

Empire also sold and purchased power. Even as early as the 1920s, Empire 
sold and purchased electric power from The Ozark Power and Water Company. 

top:  Interior of West Seventh Street Sub-
station, Joplin, 1920s�

above:  7th Street Substation, Joplin.
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Weather Bureau  
Station Established

During the spring of  1923, the 
United States Department of  Agri-
culture Weather Bureau established 
Empire District Electric Company 
as the region’s official Weather Bu-
reau station.  The station was fully 
equipped with a recording ther-
mometer, barometer, rain gauge 
and humidity hygrometer.  Having 
the knowledge of  the weather was 
valuable information for operating 
the hydroelectric plants.  Paul J. 
Sergeant was in charge of  Empire’s 
Weather Bureau. 

Largest Turbine in Kansas

A major investment for the company occurred in 1925 when the largest 
turbine in Kansas was installed at the Riverton Plant.  A new 27,000 horse-
power Westinghouse steam driven turbo-generator was purchased.  The 
enhancement project took 18 months to install.  An 80 foot addition was 
added to the main building to accommodate the new equipment.  The turbine 
weighed nearly one million pounds, was 52 feet long, 21 feet wide and 11 feet 
high. It operated at 190 pounds of  steam pressure, 6,900 volts, 25 cycle, 3 
phase and was rated at 25,000 kilowatts.  A Wheeler double-suction centrifugal 
pump was designed to deliver 40,000 gallons of  water per minute.  The con-
denser was equipped with 5,760 tubes which placed end to end would cover a 
distance of  almost 22 miles.  The total equipment cost was over $800,000.   

above:  Largest turbine in Kansas at Riverton 
Plant�.

Below:  Empire’s first auto.
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1925 Review

The year of  1925 proved to be one of  the company’s most successful years. 
The New Business Department, under the supervision of  George Barnett, 
closed with a record of  $300,240 in new appliance sales.  This amount was 
37% over the previous year.  Empire gained 1,957 new customers and em-
ployee payroll amounted to $644,540.  In addition, a total of  $612,736 was 
reinvested in new equipment, line and pole extensions. 

According to a news report from the Columbus Advocate newspaper, public 
utilities were the largest tax contributors to the county treasurer’s office.  Dur-
ing the last six months of  1925, total tax payments by public utilities amount-
ed to $131,875.36.   Empire led the way by paying the largest single amount 
with $41,928.21.   

New Traffic Signals in Joplin

The City of  Joplin paid Empire $7,000 to install new traffic signals on 
Main Street at the intersections from Third Street to Seventh Street. They 
were the first blinking red, yellow and green lights installed in the city. 

Corporate Building Site Selected

General manager James Harsh announced that an architect had been 
commissioned to design a four-story new corporate building at the corner of  
Sixth and Joplin Streets.  The site had been previously occupied by the Ozark 
Playgrounds Association.  The Ozark Playgrounds Association promoted 

above:  Early Meter Shop, 1920s.�

Below:  Ozark Playgrounds Association 
headquarters at Sixth Street and Joplin 
Avenue.
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tourism for southwestern Mis-
souri and northwestern Arkansas. 
Founded in 1919, the association 
began when 60 area towns, rep-
resenting seven Missouri counties 
and six Arkansas counties, were 
formed into an association. The 
Ozark Playgrounds tourist center 
resembled a log cabin structure. 

New Storehouse  
Constructed 

A new $25,000 storehouse was 
built in 1926.  Located at Fourth 
Street and Division Avenue, the 
two-story, concrete and brick struc-
ture doubled the storage capacity.  
In addition, a Frisco line switch 
track was brought into the storage 
yard for easy unloading and load-
ing of  electrical supplies.   This site 
would continue to play an impor-
tant role as a central warehouse for 
the company.

1927 Territory

By 1927, the Empire customer 
territory consisted of  the com-
munities of  Joplin, Webb City, 
Carterville, Carthage, Neosho, 
Seneca, Carl Junction, Asbury, 
Waco, Duenweg, and Oronogo in 
Missouri; Galena, Riverton, Baxter 
Springs, Treece, Columbus, Crest-
line, Weir City, Scammon, Mineral, 

and Corona in Kansas; and  Picher, Commerce, Cardin, Hockerville, North 
Miami and Quapaw in Oklahoma.  Furthermore, Empire sold electrical 
current wholesale to Kansas Gas & Electric Company, Ozark Power & Water 
Company, Electric Utilities Company, Northeastern Oklahoma Railroad, 
Southwest Missouri Railroad and Joplin & Pittsburg Railway. 

Electric Trolleys

Empire played an important role in the local interurban railway systems. 
Prior to the trolley system, three railroad lines that included the Missouri Pa-
cific and Santa Fe, Frisco and Kansas City Southern, connected the cities and 
major towns of  the area with passenger service several times a day. However, 
the daily price of  fares was mostly prohibitive for the working class miners of  
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the Tri-State District, and yet there was a tremendous need to link these min-
ing communities together with a public transportation network.  By 1920 the 
three trolley lines of  the Southwest Missouri Railroad, Northeast Oklahoma 
Railroad and the Joplin & Pittsburg Railway were well established providing 
affordable, reliable transportation between the three states of  Kansas, Mis-
souri and Oklahoma. 

The Southwest Missouri line was one of  the busiest electric interurban sys-
tems around.  Alfred H. Rogers established the line in 1893. It survived more 
than four and one-half  decades of  changing transportation trends. During the 
early twenties, the Southwest Missouri Railroad maintained half-hour stops 
on all its interurban and suburban routes.  More frequent service was offered 
on inner-city lines.  

The interurbans brought the district’s mining communities closer together.  
Joplin prospered most as all the rail lines led to Joplin, and it became the com-
mercial center of  the district.  During the early years, the mining industry and 
the electric trolley companies were Empire’s two largest clients.   

New Substation in Operation

By 1927, Empire’s new sub-
station was completed in Joplin 
at 26th Street and Pearl Avenue.  
The new substation was part of  
a $250,000 building expansion 
project which also included a new 
frequency changer at Grand Falls.  

The new substation transformer 
converted the electrical current to 
2,300 volts for lighting and power.  
Construction on the substation 
began in the fall.  The high-voltage 
station was a new departure in 
outdoor stations by offering discon-
necting switches on all entries and 
by-pass switches for all line-break-
ers.  The by-pass switches made 
it possible to cut out all oil circuit 
breakers, allowing inspections and 
repairs to occur without interrupt-
ing customer service. 

Another new feature was in 
the construction of  the conduit for 
low-voltage circuits.  The circuits 
were laid inside the conduit trench 
and supported outside by a steel 
structure, thus making them easily 
accessible for changes, repairs or 
additional conduits. 

opposite:  District office, late 1920s.



34

Employee Payroll Reaches $750,000

By 1926, employee payroll had reached $750,000. During the year, Em-
pire added 2,182 new customers which brought the total to 19,858. In order 
to run the generating plants, 120,000 tons of  coal was needed. Empire sold 
more than 177,000,000 kilowatt hours of  electricity, which was an increase of  
21% over 1925, and the company paid more than $190,000 in dividends to 
customer shareholders of  the district.  

Profile of Henry L. Doherty, President of Cities 
Service Company

Henry Latham Doherty was born on May 15, 1870, in 
Columbus, Ohio. At the age of  twelve he began his career in the 
utility business as an office boy for the Columbus Gas Company.  
By the age of  twenty, he had worked his way up the ladder to 
become manager of  the Columbus Gas Company. 

At the age of  35, he created his own company – Henry L. 
Doherty & Company.  The year was 1905 and his company was 
engaged in the reorganization, management and financing of  
public utility concerns. Doherty’s interests became so great that 
he created a separate holding company to handle its interests - 
the Cities Service Company.

Judge David Hoag described Doherty as a supreme negotia-
tor, “The negotiations leading up to and the final consummation 
of  the sale (of  Empire) were characteristic of  the man.  He made 
an exhaustive study of  the conditions of  the district from an engineering, geological and business stand-
point and reached his conclusions as to its possibilities for future growth and development.” 

above:  Substation in 1926�

Cost of  
Electricity 

The Empire Builder 
published some na-
tional figures on the 
cost of  electricity in 
the July 1926 issue.  
Statistics stated that 
the average consump-
tion for electric homes 
in the United States 
was 365 kilowatt 
hours. The average 
cost was $27.89 per 
year, which broke 
down to around $2.32 
per month. 
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Electric Signs

Exterior electrical signs were coming of  age by the late 1920s. Charley 
Wells, the Commercial Lighting Engineer for Empire, helped spread the 
message.  Wells was a graduate of  the General Electric Company’s nationally 
known lighting school at Nela Park in Cleveland, Ohio.  During his tenure, 
Wells was responsible for placing new electrically lit signs in Joplin for the 
Hippodrome, Electric and Orpheum theaters, the Joplin Globe, R&S Chev-
rolet, Bradley’s Department Store, Joplin Furniture Company, Rex Billiard 
Parlor, and the First Presbyterian Church.  Wells also planned the illumination 
system for both the interior and exterior of  Empire’s new corporate office 
building at 6th Street and Joplin Avenue. 

Empire Buys Ozark Power and Water Company

Empire purchased Ozark Power and Water Company in 1927.  According 
to the terms of  the sale, Empire purchased Ozark Power and Water Company 
for $1,129,568 in cash, while assuming all unsecured indebtedness amounting 
to $2,670,000 in bonds and an exchange at par value of  $500,000 in pre-
ferred stock.  The entire package totaled $4,836,146.08.   

The Ozark Power and Water Company territory encompassed six counties 
(Greene, Lawrence, Newton, Taney, Christian and Stone) and included the 
hydroelectric plant at Ozark Beach on White River. The hydroelectric plant, 
with a generating capacity of  18,500 horsepower, increased the total Empire 
generating capacity to 125,000 horsepower  From the acquisition, Empire’s 
territory expanded and the company added the Ozark Beach dam and the 
Powersite generating plant to the system. 

top:  Electric sign in the 1920s�

above:  Charley Wells, 1929.�
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Empire and KG&E Interconnect

The Empire District Electric Company and the Kansas Gas & Electric 
Company (KG & E) followed the national trends when plans were made to 
interconnect the two companies’ transmission lines.  The desired result of  
linking the two systems would be that Empire would receive temporarily 
increased capacity needed for its plant at Riverton, and that both companies 
could provide assistance in case of  a severe emergency.   Upon completion 
of  this project, a chain of  interconnected electric transmission lines extend-
ing from a point north of  Wichita, Kansas to south of  Springfield, Missouri 
would be linked.  A new frequency changer and turbine room would be 
added to the Riverton plant to convert the KG & E 60-cycle and Empire 
25-cycle systems. 

above:  Ozark Beach Dam.

below:  Cities Service emblem.
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New Corporate Headquarters Opens

The finishing touches were made at the new Joplin corporate home in 
August 1927.  During the tremendous growth period of  the early 1920s, it 
became evident that a new corporate office building was needed.  Empire of-
ficials selected the Joplin architectural firm of  Smith & VanPelt. They were a 
successful firm which had previously designed two notable structures in Joplin 
the Y. M. C. A. facility and Joplin Supply building.  The Blazer-Vollmer Con-
struction Company of  Wichita, Kansas became the general contractor for the 
construction project.  

The new four-story building sat prominently on the southwest corner of  
Sixth Street and Joplin Avenue.  The dimensions of  the reinforced concrete 
building were 50 feet by 115 feet. The cost of  the building was $200,000. 
Ironically, that was the same amount of  gross sales in 1909 when Henry L. 
Doherty purchased and created The Empire District Electric Company.  

Architect Burrill VanPelt chose to adopt a Byzantine-Romanesque architec-
tural style characterized by a theme of  incorporating interlaced relief  arches. 
The exterior walls were made of  a light buff-colored, matte-faced brick manu-
factured in Oskaloosa, Missouri. Locally quarried Carthage white limestone 
trimmed the facade and was bedded in stainless Portland cement mortar.

The cut stone entablature over the main entrance was embellished with 
characteristic corbelled Byzantine arches.  An ornamental keystone, dis-

above:  Corporate office, 1929.


